SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-00014

RICHARD E. WILBOURN III, as

Co-Trustee and Remainder Beneficiary
of the Deanna A. Wilbourn Marital Trust B

APPELLANT

V.

DEANNA A. WILBOURN, as

Co-Trustee of the Deanna A. Wilbourn Marital Trust B,
ELIZABETH W. WILLIAMSON and
GARNETT W. HUTTON

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LAUDERDALE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT RICHARD E. WILBOURN, III ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Glenn Gates Taylor (MBN William O. Brown, Jr. (MBN Christy M. Sparks (MBN COPELAND, COOK, TAYLOR & BUSH, P.A. 600 Concourse, Suite 100 1076 Highland Colony Parkway (39157) Post Office Box 6020 Ridgeland, MS 39158 601-856-7200 601-707-2999 (fax)

INTRODUCTION

This case arises out of family disputes that surfaced after the October 2004 death of the family patriarch, Richard E. Wilbourn II ("Richard II"), a lawyer. At his death, Richard II and his family members owned a controlling interest in Citizens National Banc Corp. (the "holding company"), which owns Citizens National Bank of Meridian, Mississippi (the "bank"), and they comprised a majority of the five-member board of the holding company. After Richard II's death, his son, Appellant ("Richard III"), also a lawyer, was elected to fill his father's various positions with the bank and the holding company, and he continued as a board member of each. Richard II's wife, Deanna Wilbourn, became a member of the board of the holding company. She and Richard III also served as co-trustees of a testamentary trust ("Marital Trust B" or the "Trust") that owned a substantial number of shares of stock in the holding company.

In January 2007, Appellees (Defendants below), who are Deanna and the two daughters of Richard II, teamed up at the board level to remove Richard III from all of the board-elected positions that he held with the bank and the holding company so that Appellee Elizabeth Williamson's husband could take over his positions. However, Richard III remained a shareholder-elected director of the holding company, and he was reelected at the March 2007 annual meeting of shareholders. At that meeting, the shares owned by Marital Trust B were not voted because Richard III and his mother disagreed over for whom the shares should be voted.

In an effort to prevent another shareholder reelection of Richard III, and to elect one of Defendants in his place, in April 2007 Defendants declared their removal of Richard III as co-trustee of Marital Trust B on the ground that he was "incompetent." The evidence, however, is overwhelming that Richard III was not incompetent, and that Defendants sought to remove him as co-trustee so that they could control the Trust's shares and vote those shares so as to elect one of them in place of Richard III. In response to Richard III's suit to set aside Defendants' improper attempted removal of him as a co-trustee (a claim on which he won summary judgment), Defendants

belatedly switched to completely new theories to remove him as co-trustee: breach of his fiduciary duties as co-trustee, hostility, and a conflict of interest.

Furious that Richard III recorded some conversations that he had with his mother and one of his sisters over matters that had nothing to do with the Trust, the chancellor disregarded the evidence of what Defendants did, and instead removed Richard III as co-trustee and appointed one of his sisters (Elizabeth Williamson) to take his place as co-trustee. The grounds that the chancellor relied on for removal have nothing to do with any alleged improper administration of the Trust or with Richard III's failure to perform his co-trustee duties. Indeed, a number of the grounds are matters that were not even asserted by Defendants in the pretrial order. The only ground that related to the Trust was the fact that Richard III and his mother disagreed over how to vote the shares for nominees to the board, but their disagreement was not a breach of any co-trustee duties—each of them had the right and discretion to agree or disagree with the other. Other than that disagreement, there is no evidence that Richard III did anything wrong concerning the Trust: he did not misappropriate Trust property, or fail to account for Trust property, or fail to provide his co-trustee or the beneficiaries with information about the Trust, or fail to preserve the property of the Trust.

The chancellor further justified his removal of Richard III by applying the wrong legal standards to erroneously expand Richard III's co-trustee duties to extend to a wide variety of matters that have nothing to do with Marital Trust B, such as: whether he breached a January 1999 agreement with his father (an agreement that is not part of the Trust and did not survive his father's death); whether he had acted contrary to his father's "vision" for the bank; whether he properly performed his work at the bank; whether he had properly promoted Wilbourn family influence and control of the bank; whether he had breached duties to his mother and sisters on unrelated family and business work, as a lawyer, son and brother; and whether his recording of some conversations with his mother and one of his sisters breached his duties.

The chancellor's removal of Richard III is based on errors of law and on factual findings that are manifestly wrong. Accordingly, the chancery court should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Under Mississippi law, a chancellor has the power to remove a trustee for "good cause," but that power is not without limits and boundaries. Good cause should be based on matters that concern the administration of the trust, such as a trustee's failure to perform his duties under the trust, or a breach or misconduct by the trustee that endangers trust property, or hostility that has been caused by the trustee, or incapacity.

The chancellor held that Richard III violated his fiduciary duties as co-trustee of Marital Trust B because, at the March 2007 annual meeting of shareholders of the holding company, he and his mother disagreed over how to vote the shares for nominees to the board, and the shares were not voted. The chancellor further held that Richard III violated duties he owed his mother and sisters on other family and business matters that had nothing to do with Marital Trust B, and because he recorded some conversations that he had with his mother and one of his sisters on matters that did not pertain to Marital Trust B. In part, the chancellor improperly went outside the four corners of the Trust and used a January 1999 agreement between Richard III and his father (an agreement that is not referred to in the Trust and did not survive his father's death) and a June 1999 "strategic plan" for the bank to determine the settlor's "intent" and to graft new duties and obligations owed by Richard III on the actual Trust terms.

Did the chancellor err as a matter of law in holding that the disagreement between Richard III and his mother over voting the shares was a breach of his fiduciary duties as co-trustee of the Trust? Did the chancellor err as a matter of law by basing his removal of Richard III on breaches of alleged duties concerning other family and business matters that had nothing to do with the Trust or with Richard III's performance of his co-trustee duties? Did the chancellor err as a matter of law in relying on extrinsic evidence to determine the settlor's "intent" and to create additional duties owed by Richard III? Are the chancellor's findings that Richard III breached his co-trustee duties under the Trust manifestly wrong?

2. In the pretrial order that governed the trial of this case, Defendants did not assert any claims that Richard III breached any duties in his handling or involvement in other family and business matters that did not pertain to Marital Trust B or the bank. Specifically, Defendants did not raise any claim, issue of fact, or question of law that Richard III breached any duties or acted improperly in the work that he did for his father's estate, or in his handling of the purchase of a Florida condominium for his mother, or in the formation of the Wilbourn Family, LLC, or in the creation of the Providence Trust. The chancellor, however, departed from the pretrial order and used Richard III's involvement in those other family and business matters as grounds for removal.

Did the chancellor err by basing his removal of Richard III on matters that were not raised by Defendants in the pretrial order?

3. Under the law, a trustee may be removed if there is mutual hostility between the trustee and the beneficiary, and the hostility of the trustee toward the beneficiary could defeat the purpose of the trust. However, a trustee cannot be removed for hostility where the hostility was created by the beneficiary in order to effectuate the removal of the trustee. In this case, the evidence is overwhelming that Defendants picked a fight with Richard III and sought to remove him as cotrustee as part of their plan to get control of the Trust's stock so that they could vote those shares to keep Richard III from being reelected to the board, and elect one of them in his place. Yet, the chancellor erroneously turned the tables on Richard III, holding that he was responsible for the hostility and that Defendants did nothing wrong.

Are the chancellor's findings of fact on the issue of hostility manifestly wrong? Did the chancellor err as a matter of law in removing Richard III because of hostility that was created by Defendants?

4. Did the chancellor err by admitting evidence of compromise and settlement offers and settlement discussions between Richard III and Defendants that occurred during January and February 2007? Was that evidence inadmissible under Mississippi Rule of Evidence 408?

- 5. Did the chancellor err by denying Richard III's claim to recover the unpaid cotrustee's fee that he was owed for the period of time from April 2007 until the effective date of his removal in January 2010?
 - 6. Did the chancellor err by dismissing Richard III's claims under Rule 41(b)?
- 7. Did the Chancery Court of Madison County err by transferring this case to Lauderdale County, thereby denying Richard III his choice of a proper venue?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

Richard III filed this action on May 18, 2007 in the Chancery Court of Madison, County, Mississippi. Defendants are Deanna A. Wilbourn ("Deanna"), his mother, and his sisters, Elizabeth Wilbourn Williamson and Garnett Wilbourn Hutton. Richard III sued as a co-trustee of the Deanna A. Wilbourn Marital Trust B ("Marital Trust B" or the "Trust") and as a remainder beneficiary under the Trust. The Trust was established under the Last Will and Testament of Richard III's deceased father, Richard E. Wilbourn, II. His co-trustee is his mother, Deanna Wilbourn. RE 6, RV 1 of 18, pp. 1-21, Exhibit 1.¹

Richard III sought to declare as improper, unauthorized, void and of no legal effect a "Notice of Removal" dated April 10, 2007 whereby Defendants purported to remove him as co-trustee of the Trust. He also asserted a claim to remove Deanna as a co-trustee of the Trust on the grounds that she had become incompetent or unable to serve, or because she has grossly mismanaged the Trust. He also asserted a claim to declare that neither of his sisters should be able to serve as successor co-trustee because of their wrongful conduct. He also sought an accounting and a judgment for his

The record of this case consists of 62 volumes of pleadings and testimony, 18 volumes of trial exhibits, and 5 supplemental volumes of corrections to exhibits and testimony. Of the 62 volumes, volumes 1-40 are pleadings and orders, and volumes 41-62 contain the transcript of the trial testimony. An example of our citation to matters in the 62 volumes is "RV 1 of 62, pp. 1," an example of our citation to matters in the 18 volumes of exhibits is "RV 1 of 18, pp. 1, Exhibit 1," and an example of our citation to matters in the 5 supplemental volumes as "SRV 1 of 1, p.1." Record Excerpts are referred to as "RE." Attached as an appendix to this brief is an index to the testimony in the trial transcript.

unpaid co-trustee's fee. RV 1 of 62, pp. 12-67 (original complaint); RV 4 of 62, pp. 533-591 (second amended complaint). Pursuant to Defendants' motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction or improper venue, this case was transferred to Lauderdale County. RV 6 of 62, pp. 825-828.

In their original answers filed in November 2007, Defendants did not assert any counterclaim and did not allege that Richard III was hostile to them or that he should be removed because of hostility. RV 3 of 62, pp., 425-442. In December 2007, however, Defendants asserted counterclaims to remove Richard III as a co-trustee, alleging for the first time his breach of fiduciary duties, conflict of interest and personal hostility to Defendants. RV 6 of 62, pp. 854-900; RV 7, pp. 901-940.

On November 21, 2007, the trial court entered an order that, among other things, prohibited the parties from voting or transferring the Trust's shares of stock during the pendency of the case. RE 12, RV 4 of 62, pp. 525-26.²

On July 23, 2008, the court entered partial summary judgment for Richard III on his claim to declare the Notice of Removal invalid, improper and unauthorized. RE 13, RV 29 of 62, pp. 4288-4289, 4232-4251. The court also denied his motion in limine, which sought to exclude any evidence about Richard III's job performance in his various positions with the bank and the holding company, or his removal from those positions, and any settlement negotiations. RE 14, RV 29 of 62, pp. 4286-87, 4278-4283.

In November 2008, the court entered its pretrial order to govern the trial of this case. RE 17, RV 33 of 62, pp. 4916-4939. The pretrial order states that Defendants seek to remove Richard III as a co-trustee on the grounds that (1) he breached fiduciary duties that he owed as co-trustee of Marital Trust B, (2) he had a conflict of interest in wanting to vote the Trust's shares for directors who included himself, (3) he engaged in hostile acts toward Defendants that interfered with the

The order directed that the parties are "to maintain the status quo as relates to the Marital Trust B and the stock, which is the corpus of that Trust. None of the parties shall reissue, transfer, encumber or vote said stock, and the original certificates shall remain in the vault in the safe deposit box of Richard E. Wilbourn, III in Citizens National Bank, Madison, Mississippi." R. 12.

proper functioning of the Trust, and (4) he and Deanna Wilbourn disagreed on how to vote the Trust's shares. RE 17 at pp. 4, 7-11, 15-16, RV 33 of 62, pp. 4916-5004.

The trial was held during December 2008, May 2009 and August 2009. In his case, Richard III called as witnesses Archie McDonnell, Jr. ("McDonnell"), Cindy Wilson, Von Burt, Lee Meyer, Deanna Wilbourn (adverse), Russell Williamson, Jim Wilbourn, Jane Wilbourn, Elizabeth Williamson (adverse), Bill Nunnery, Kirk Reasonover, Janie Goodman, George Hill, Garnett Hutton (adverse) and Richard III. At the conclusion of Richard III's case, the court granted Defendants' motion under Rule 41(b) to dismiss all of Richard III's claims, with the exception of Richard III's claim to declare the Notice of Removal invalid and void. RV 60 of 62, pp. 2920-2994.

For their case, Defendants called McDonnell, Elizabeth Williamson, Garnett Hutton, David Barr, Don Rogers, and Bob Walters as witnesses. None of them presented any testimony or other evidence concerning Marital Trust B. RV 44 of 62, pp. 503-600; RV 45, pp. 601-633; RV 51, pp. 1534-1646; RV 54, pp. 2018-2073; RV 61, pp. 3015-3150; RV 62, pp. 3151-3159. At the conclusion of Defendants' case, Richard III moved the court under Rule 41(b) to dismiss all of Defendants' counterclaims. The court took the motion under advisement. RV 61, pp. 3013-3150; RV 62, pp. 3151-3159.

In defense of Defendants' counterclaims, Richard III testified and the court allowed him to incorporate in his defense of the counterclaims the evidence that he presented during his case. Defendants did not call any rebuttal witness or offer any further evidence. The trial then concluded. RV 62, pp. 3188-3252.

On December 8, 2009, the chancellor issued his seventy-one page opinion which, among other things, removed and disqualified Richard III from serving as co-trustee as Marital Trust B and appointed Elizabeth Williamson as successor co-trustee. The chancellor held that Richard III violated his fiduciary duties by recording conversations, by disagreeing with his mother on voting the shares at the March 2007 annual meeting of shareholders, by his conduct at the bank, by requesting that his mother sign a personal guaranty for the construction of a new family-owned hotel,

by his involvement in his mother's purchase of a Florida condo, by his involvement in the creation of the Wilbourn Family, LLC and the Providence Trust, and because of hostility between him and his mother and sisters. RE 2, RV 40 of 62, pp. 5914-5984 (Opinion).

B. Statement of the Facts

1. An Overview of the Facts

Richard II was an attorney, as is his son, Richard III. At the time of his death, Richard II and Richard III practiced law together. Defendant Deanna Wilbourn is Richard III's mother, and Elizabeth Williamson and Garnett Hutton are his sisters. At his death, Richard II was the largest shareholder of the holding company which owns the bank. Richard II left all of his 41,910 shares in the holding company to a testamentary trust that is referred to as "Marital Trust B." He named his wife and Richard III as co-trustees, and he named his two daughters as successor co-trustees in the event of the resignation or removal of a co-trustee. During her lifetime, Deanna Wilbourn is to receive all of the annual income of the Trust (dividends from the stock). Upon her death, the property of the Trust is to be distributed to all three of his children. RE 6 (Article V, p. 4-8), RV 1 of 18, pp. 4-8.

At his death, Richard II was chairman of the board of the holding company and the bank. He and two of his children (Richard III and Garnett Hutton) held three of the five director positions on the board of the holding company, which gave them control of the holding company and the bank. The other two directors were Archie McDonnell, Sr. and his son, Archie McDonnell, Jr. Following Richard II's death, Richard III took his father's place as chairman of the board of the holding company and the bank, and Deanna was elected to the board of the holding company.

The terms of Marital Trust B do not prohibit the co-trustees from voting the Trust's shares for themselves to be directors of the holding company, and they have on occasion done just that. Indeed, at every opportunity on which the Trust's shares have been voted or proposed to be voted, Deanna Wilbourn has sought to vote the shares for nominees that included her. At the 2005 and 2006 annual meetings of shareholders of the holding company, Richard III and Deanna Wilbourn,

as co-trustees, agreed to vote the Trust's shares for a board-nominated slate of directors that included both of them and Garnett Hutton. The 2005 vote represented a re-election of Richard III and Garnett, and a first term for their mother. The other two board members were Archie McDonnell, Jr. ("McDonnell") and his father.

As president of the bank, McDonnell ran its day-to-day operations. From time to time, McDonnell and Richard III (who was chairman, an officer and a director of the holding company and the bank) had differences of opinion on matters concerning the bank. McDonnell was irritated by Richard III's questions, his requests for financial information, his discussions with officers and employees, and some of his ideas and suggestions. By the Fall of 2006, McDonnell wanted to be rid of Richard III. By late 2006, McDonnell and Defendants secretly agreed to join together to remove Richard III from all of his board-elected positions with the holding company, except his position as a shareholder-elected director, and all of his positions at the bank,³ and to replace him with Defendant Elizabeth Williamson's husband (Russell Williamson). They accomplished that at board meetings held on January 9, 2007, at which they also engineered a board-nominated slate of directors for the holding company that excluded Richard III. The day before, McDonnell lied to Richard III and said he knew nothing about the changes that were in store for the next day. Despite what occurred at those board meetings, with the support of other shareholders (including Richard III's brother), Richard III was nominated and reelected as a director of the holding company.⁴

Nominees to the board of the holding company were to be voted on at the March 2007 annual meeting of shareholders. In advance of that meeting, Richard III and Deanna Wilbourn disagreed over her proposal to vote the shares of Marital Trust B for the board-nominated slate of directors that included her but excluded Richard III. He requested that they meet to discuss the issue, but she

³ Richard III was a director, chairman, secretary, general counsel, compensation committee member and chairman, loan committee member, and Trust committee member.

⁴ To this day, with the support of Richard II's brother's family's shares and Richard II's sister's family's shares, Richard III continues to be a director on the holding company board.

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