IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2010-CA-00014

RICHARD E. WILBOURN III, as

APPELLANT

Co-Trustee and Remainder Beneficiary of the Deanna A. Wilbourn Marital Trust B

V.

DEANNA A. WILBOURN, as

Co-Trustee of the Deanna A. Wilbourn

Marital Trust B,

ELIZABETH W. WILLIAMSON and

GARNETT W. HUTTON

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LAUDERDALE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES ELIZABETH W. WILLIAMSON AND GARNETT W. HUTTON

W. Wayne Drinkwater (MSB Mary Clay W. Morgan (MSB BRADLEY ARANT BOULT CUMMINGS LLP One Jackson Place 188 East Capitol Street, Suite 400 Post Office Box 1789 Jackson, MS 39215-1789 Telephone: (601) 948-8000

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

The facts surrounding these recordings demonstrate that Richard III cannot be trusted by his family members, and, therefore, they constitute a sufficient and independent ground for Richard III's removal as co-trustee. See, e.g., Malachowski v. Bank One, 667 N.E. 2d 780, 791 (Ind. Ct. App. 1996) (affirming removal of trustee where misrepresentation jeopardized relationship of trust, even though it was not actionable fraud or a breach of the trust), rev'd in part on other grounds, 682 N.E.2d 530 (Ind. 1997).

2. Richard III Broke His Promise Never to Record His Mother Again.

Ultimately, Richard III promised never to record his mother again. He broke those promises on four occasions, recording his mother three times in April 2007, and again in July 2007 after he had filed this lawsuit against her. His justification for these violations was that he thought it was in his interest to make the recordings -i.e., he needed them for his legal dispute with his wife and his lawsuit with his mother - and that his mother told him to do it.

Richard III's claim that Deanna told him to record their future conversations is preposterous, and is belied not only by common sense, but also by the very statement upon

As discussed *supra*, a trustee can be removed for dishonest or improper conduct towards his beneficiaries regardless of whether the conduct relates to the trust or arises in the course of its administration. In any event, these secret recordings directly relate to the subject matter and transactions that form the basis of this lawsuit. They deal with the Bank and Holding Company, stock of which constitutes the Trust B's sole asset. Richard III felt they were so closely related that he successfully resisted producing the recordings until *after* he had deposed his mother and sisters.

which he supports his claim. Ex. 297 (Transcripts of all secret recordings, at E&G R.E. 251). The statement gives no such permission. Further, the statement says nothing about recording future conversations, and says nothing about *secret* recordings. Nor does it allow Richard to secretly record conversations with his mother after he later sued her, as part of an effort to gather evidence against her. It is ironic that Richard had already recorded two telephone conversations with his mother in April 2007, and was in the process of recording a third, at the time she made the statement upon which he now relies to justify his resumption of this practice in the first place.

3. Richard III Improperly Sought to Use Trust B Property to Settle His Own Personal Claims.

Despite his fiduciary duties, in a January 30, 2007 letter, Richard III attempted to use the Trust B shares, as well as his status as co-trustee of both that trust and the Providence Trust, to aid him in settling personal claims arising out of his removal from his Bank and Holding Company positions. *See* Ex. 545 (included in Richard III R.E. tab 9). That letter – written to his mother and co-trustee, and to Archie McDonnell, Jr., with copies to his sisters Elizabeth and Garnett and brother-in-law Russell Williamson – contains numerous examples of improper self-dealing in which Richard III sought to engage in order to benefit himself. For example:

- Richard III stated his intent as trustee not to permit the shares of Trust B to be voted at the March 2007 Holding Company director election. (*Id.* at ¶ 1.)
- He agreed not to exercise independent judgment as co-trustee of the Providence Trust but to allow his co-trustee, Kirk Reasonover, to vote the Holding Company stock in the Providence Trust in the March 2007 election. (*Id.* at ¶ 2.)
- He stated his intent to vote the stock of Trust B for himself at the March 2008 election, and demanded that his mother, as co-trustee, also vote the Trust B stock for him in that election. (*Id.* at ¶ 6.)
- He stated that, as co-trustee of Trust B, he would not challenge his mother's service as co-trustee in 2007. (*Id.* at ¶ 9.) Richard III took this position even though he then believed that his mother was mentally incompetent to serve in that role.
- He demanded that, as trustee, he be allowed to handle all deposits and disbursements of funds from Trust B. (*Id.* at ¶ 15.)

- He demanded that either Trust B or the Bank pay his personal attorney's fees as a condition of the settlement, even though Trust B had no connection with those expenses. (*Id.* at ¶ 14.)
- Finally, he conditioned settlement of his personal claims related to his removal from his Bank and Holding Company positions on the agreement of the Bank and Richard II's estate to employ him in the future as an attorney. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 11, 12.)

Richard III's attempt to use the Trust B shares, and his status as co-trustee, constitutes self-dealing and, therefore, breaches the fiduciary duty of loyalty owed to his beneficiaries.

Richard III argues that the chancellor's consideration of this letter violated Mississippi Rule of Evidence 408. *See* Appellant's Brief at 48-49. But Rule 408 bars admission of evidence of settlement offers for the purpose of proving liability for the invalidity of the claim at issue. It does not bar such evidence offered for a different purpose.

Here, the bar of Rule 408 does not apply for two different reasons. *First*, the "compromise and settlement" communications at issue, which concerned Richard III's removal from his Bank and Holding Company positions, do not concern the claims at issues *in this action*, which concern Richard III's removal as co-trustee of Trust B. *See* Ex. 545, 546, 547, 553. Indeed, these communications *preceded* Richard III's removal as co-trustee of Trust B, and *no* legal proceedings of any kind relating to that removal had then been commenced. *See Morley v. Jackson Redev. Auth.*, 632 So. 2d 1284, 1292-93 (Miss. 1994) (appraisal made before eminent domain proceedings were initiated was *not* inadmissible under Rule 408 because no disputed "claim" existed until proceedings were begun); *see also HeartSouth, PLLC v. Boyd*, 865 So. 2d 1095, 1103 (Miss. 2003) (letter *not* inadmissible under Rule 408 where letter was written "before any controversy concerning [plaintiff's] breach of contract [claim had] occurred").

Second, the chancellor did not consider the January 30, 2007 letter for any purpose forbidden by Rule 408, but for another purpose – to show that Plaintiff sought to regain his Bank and Holding Company positions, and that his attempt to do so was accompanied by self-dealing

breaches of fiduciary duty. See Ex. 545 (included in Richard III R.E. tab 9) (requesting, inter alia: "return... to the bank board where I will retain the committee memberships that I previously held"; and "elect[ion]... both boards in March 2008").

The trial court committed no error in considering Richard III's letter as evidence of his intent to use his trustee's position of power over the Trust B shares for his own personal gain.

4. Richard III Improperly Blocked the Voting of the Trust B Shares at the March 2007 Shareholder Meeting for Self-Interested Reasons.

At the March 6, 2007 annual shareholder meeting, Richard III again used his power as co-trustee for his own benefit by preventing the voting of the Trust B shares. Richard III sought to vote for his friends Bill Grete and Kirk Reasonover, because he believed they would support his personal agenda to regain his former Bank positions; he refused to vote for Archie and any of the Defendants because he knew they would not support him.²⁷

The Defendants opposed Richard III's wishes, realizing that if Richard III returned to his positions, the discord would resurface, with destructive results for the Bank and Trust B. As Richard III admitted, he knew that he would be elected to the Holding Company board if the Trust B stock was *not* voted; if that stock *were* voted, however, his election would have been in doubt. This was an additional reason supporting his voting preference.

When it became apparent that Richard III's personal interest conflicted with the views and interest of the other beneficiaries, his duty was either to accept their decision or to resign as trustee. He did *not* have the right to use his power as trustee to defeat the wishes of all of the

²⁷ Richard III mischaracterizes the evidence and the finding of the trial court as basing his removal on the naked fact of a disagreement between Deanna and him over how to vote. The trial court rejected that conclusion, holding that Richard III's position was not based on any good-faith business considerations, but arose from self-interest. R. 5972-74 (Opinion, Richard III R.E. tab 2). The evidence overwhelmingly supports this finding. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 2064-67 (Garnett testimony, E&G R.E. 455-58).

beneficiaries, his co-trustee, and the settlor of the trust. His self-interested actions violated his fiduciary duties.

Richard III's self-interested acts would disqualify him as co-trustee even if those acts had not threatened harm to the beneficiaries of Trust B. When a trustee acts in his own self-interest, that fact alone justifies his removal. All beneficiaries have a right to insist that their trustees put the interest of the trust, and its beneficiaries, ahead of the trustee's own interest.

Here, Richard III's self-interested actions sounded to the detriment of the other Trust B beneficiaries, as he sought to regain positions from which he had been removed by the four other Holding Company board members. The evidence demonstrates that Richard III's activities created significant discord, which would return if he were reinstated.

These actions also violated Richard III's duty to reasonably cooperate with his co-trustee, and to act in a manner consistent with Richard II's intent. As discussed *supra*, Richard III's disagreement over the voting of the trust shares was not based on legitimate business matters, but on his own self interest, and his subjective and false views about his removal from his Bank and Holding Company positions.

Richard's expressed intent not to vote for Deanna, Elizabeth, Garnett, or Archie for Holding Company director demonstrates that he is unable to work with his co-trustee, or the other Trust B beneficiaries, in order to effectuate Richard II's intent with respect to the trust – *i.e.*, continued family control over the Bank.

5. Richard III Sought to Have Deanna Engage in Transactions that Were Not in Her Interest, but Benefitted Him.

Richard III engaged in other conduct that demonstrates his unfitness as co-trustee. For example, Richard III advised and encouraged his mother to take actions that benefitted him financially, but that were not in her financial interest:

- On July 24, 2007, Richard III asked his mother to sign a personal guaranty of \$12 million to guarantee a construction loan for a hotel in which she had no financial interest, but in which Richard III did have an interest.
- Richard III pressed his mother to buy a \$750,000 condominium, and then arranged
 for the title of the condominium to be placed in the Wilbourn Family LLC, with the
 intent that ownership of the LLC would later be transferred to Richard III and his
 sisters. As discussed *supra*, Richard III represented his mother in establishing the
 LLC and in securing this result.
- In 2005, Richard III recommended that his mother establish and fund the Providence Trust, transferring to that trust a large sum of cash and 3,440 shares of Holding Company stock that Deanna owned outright. He further recommended that she select him and his friend Kirk Reasonover to serve as co-trustees, who could vote that stock. This deprived Deanna of voting control over the stock and the dividends from the stock.
- Richard III sought to persuade Deanna to transfer all of the 41,910 shares of Holding Company stock in Trust B to the Providence Trust, an action that would have given Richard III effective control over those shares and, therefore, the Bank, and that would have deprived Deanna of her right to holding company dividends, which were likely to increase in future years.

Richard III also refused to resign as co-trustee of the Providence Trust when his mother asked him to do so, even though his refusal defeated the estate planning advantages of the trust, as Deanna would not transfer more stock to the trust so long as Richard III remained as its co-trustee. Richard III's insistence on putting his personal interests ahead of the interests of the other beneficiaries of the Providence Trust frustrated its purpose and breached his fiduciary duties to his mother and sisters as its co-trustee.

These self-interested acts breached fiduciary duties Richard III owed to his mother as trustee and lawyer. Remarkably, Richard III took these actions at a time when he believed that his mother was not mentally competent and thus incapable of managing her own affairs. As the trial court ruled prior to trial, Deanna Wilbourn has *never been* mentally incompetent. However, the fact that Richard III gave this advice and took these actions while he believed otherwise shows a complete disregard for the duties that he owed his mother, who was not only a beneficiary of Trust B and the Providence Trust, but also his legal client.

Richard III claims that the trial court erred in considering this evidence because it is not directly related to the administration of Trust B and because his performance of these other duties was not listed as a disputed issue in the pretrial order. *See* Appellant's Brief at 51-52. The trial court did not err in considering this evidence, as it is relevant to Richard III's honesty and integrity as a trustee and his creation of hostility between himself and the Defendants.

To the extent removal is based on a trustee's dishonesty or other misconduct, it is not necessary that such dishonesty or misconduct be connected to the trust itself, or to its administration. E.g., id. at cmt. e ("[S]erious or repeated misconduct, even unconnected with the trust itself, may justify removal." (emphasis added)); George G. Bogert & George T. Bogert, The Law of Trusts and Trustees § 527 (2007) ("If a trustee is found guilty of... conduct involving dishonesty, the court may find that he is unfit to be a trustee, even though the reprehensible actions were not connected with the trust administration."). Who could trust a person who sought to take financial advantage of his own mother, who was also his client and fiduciary, at a time when that person believed his mother lacked the mental capacity to understand the transactions that he was proposing to her?

The trial court likewise committed no error in considering this evidence. The issues in the trial court's pretrial order broadly include any alleged breaches of fiduciary duties and other issues that created hostility between the parties. R. 4930-31 (Pretrial Order, Richard III R.E. tab 17). Further, Richard III did not preserve this issue with a timely objection at trial. The parties presented extensive evidence regarding Richard III's actions as attorney for his mother, as cotrustee of the Providence trust, and as a family member. Richard III did not object on the

Id. at cmt. e, illus. 5.

²⁸ As an example, the Restatement of Trusts provides the following illustration:

A's will named her brother B both as executor of her will and as trustee for her minor children. B was guilty of serious misconduct as executor. It is not improper for the court, on its own motion, to remove B as trustee.

grounds that these issues were not itemized in the pretrial order. Indeed, Richard III, not the Defendants, first introduced evidence regarding the Providence Trust in his own case in chief. Tr. 899-910 (Deanna testimony, E&G R.E. 393-94); Ex. 67 (Wilbourn Family Providence Trust). When the Defendants cross-examined him on that topic, he objected on grounds of relevance. Tr. 2600-01 (Richard III testimony, E&G R.E. 489-90). The trial court properly overruled Richard III's relevance objections, stating "[I]t's been gone into on the Plaintiff's side, and I think he's got a right to go into it on the Defendants' side." Tr. 2601 (E&G R.E. 490). Because he first introduced evidence regarding the Providence Trust, and failed to object at trial that the topic was not specifically included in the pretrial order, Richard III has waived any objection to this evidence. See Boyd v. State, 977 So. 2d 329, 337 (Miss. 2008).

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